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In the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit

No. 13838

National Labor Relations Board, petitioner

v.

Thomas Rigging Company, and Carpenters Union,

Local No. 642, United Brotherhood of Carpenters

& Joiners of America, AFL, and Harry Cecil,

Business Agent of Local No. 642, respondents

ON PETITION FOR ENFORCEMENT OF AN ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

BRIEF FOR THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before the Court upon the petition of

the National Labor Relations Board pursuant to Sec-

tion 10 (e) of the National Labor Relations Act, as

amended (61 Stat. 136, 29 U. S. C, Supp. V, Sec.

151, et seq.),
1 for enforcement of its order issued on

January 8, 1953, against respondents Thomas Rigging

Company (hereinafter referred to as the Company)

and Carpenters Union Local No. 642, United Brother-

hood of Carpenters and Joiners, AFL (hereinafter

1 The pertinent provisions of the Act are appended hereto (pp.

23-27, infra).

(1)



referred to as Carpenters Union) and Harry Cecil,

its business agent, following the usual proceedings

under Section 10 of the Act. This Court has jurisdic-

tion under Section 10 (e) of the Act, the unfair labor

practices having occurred at San Pablo, California,

within this judicial circuit. The Board's Decision

and Order (E. 70-87) 2
is reported at 102 N. L. R. B.

No. 1.

I. The Board's findings of fact

The Board found 3
that, pursuant to an understand-

ing or arrangement with Carpenters Union, the Com-

pany refused as a matter of policy to hire any em-

ployees for millwright work in the installation of

machinery at the Rheem Manufacturing Company

plant, except applicants cleared with and referred by

the Carpenters Union and that, pursuant to this policy

and in violation of Section 8 (a) (3) and (1) of the

Act, the company refused to employ applicants Gon-

zalves, Renner, Young, and Glen because they were

members of the International Association of Machinists

(hereinafter referred to as the Machinists) and not

accredited by the Carpenters Union. The Board also

found that the Carpenters Union violated Section 8

(b) (2) and (1) (A) by causing the Company to

engage in this conduct. The subsidiary facts on which

these findings rest may be summarized as follows:

2 References to the printed record are designated "R." Refer-

ences preceding a semicolon are to the Board's findings; refer-

ences following a semicolon are to the supporting evidence.
3 The Board adopted the findings, conclusions, and recommenda-

tions of the Trial Examiner with certain additions and modifica-

tions (R. 71).



A. The operations of the Company at the Rheem plant

The Company is a California corporation which

maintains its principal office and place of business at

Emeryville, California, where it is engaged in hauling,

rigging, and installing machinery, all within the State

of California (R. 23; 95-96). In August 1951 (R. 24;

118), the Company was engaged in the installation of

machinery and equipment at a plant in San Pablo,

California, which was to be operated by the Rheem
Manufacturing Company (hereinafter referred to as

Rheem) (R. 23; 117-118). This case relates solely

to the company's hiring practices in connection with

its operations at this plant (R. 23).

The Company installed the machinery at the Rheem

plant as a subcontractor for Christensen and Lyons,

the general contractor for the plant's construction

and the installation of equipment (R. 23; 121-122,

108). Manufacture of ordnance material for the

armed services was the sole purpose of the plant's con-

struction (R. 24; 125). Construction of the plant

started in the forepart of 1951, and in the early part

of August 1951, the Company began installing the

machinery (R. 24; 118).

Under the contract between Christensen and Lyons

and the Company, the latter agreed to move the ma-

chinery from the railroad siding on the plant premises

or from the plant dock to the portion of the plant

where it is to be used and to install it at the appro-

priate place (R. 24; 126). This machinery is valued

at $3,831,000 (R. 25; 119-120). It consists of two

types. Class A equipment is purchased by Rheem



as prime contractor for the account of the Govern-

ment and rebilled to the Government (R. 25; 119).

This equipment is shipped to the plant from vari-

ous states in the United States (ibid.). Class B,

which comprises 80 percent of the equipment (R. 25;

127), is Government owned equipment, furnished from

the industrial reserve inventory and shipped from

Government arsenals in various states of the United

States (R. 25; 119, 127). During the period from

August 1951 to the first of April 1952, respondent

Company was paid in excess of $50,000 for its services

in moving and installing machinery at the Rheem
plant (R. 25; 102-105).4

The machinery installed by the Company was to be

used in the manufacture of 81 mm. mortar shells for

the United States Army and cartridge cases for the

United States Navy (R. 25; 102, 120). Production

of a pilot run of shells was commenced in September

1951, but was stopped that same month (R. 29; 117-

118). Production was resumed on November 12, 1951,

after a rearrangement of the machinery (ibid.).

From November 1951 through March 1952, the value

of shell components manufactured by Rheem and

shipped outside of California was $650,000 (R. 124).

In April 1952 alone $389,000 worth were shipped

across state lines (R. 25; 123).

Upon the above facts, the Board, affirming the Trial

Examiner in this regard, concluded that the opera-

4 During 1951 the Company also performed services for, among
others, Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Del Monte Electric

Company, Sherwin Williams Paint Company, and The Pacific

Telephone and Telegraph Company (R. 27 n. 3 ; 107)

.



tions of the Company affected commerce within the

meaning of the Act, and that the assertion of juris-

diction over the unfair labor practices involved in

this case would effectuate the policies of the Act

(R. 71; 26-27).

B. Respondents' unfair labor practices

1. Four members of Machinists Union apply for employment in August
and September 1951 but respondent Company fails to hire any of them

a. Manuel Gonzalves

On August 8, 1951, Gonzalves, a member of Ma-

chinists for ten years (R. 30; 128) and experienced

in the installation of machinery (R. 30; 133, 137, 150),

went to the Company's operations at the Rheem plant

(R. 30; 129). He asked for work of Jack Burgman,

respondent Company's general foreman (R. 30; 129,

134), whom Gonzalves had known from work in the

shipyards during the war (R. 132). Burgman stated

that he could use Gonzalves "around the first of the

week" (R. 31; 137, 131), and then asked Gonzalves

"what local [he] belonged to" (R. 31; 132). Gon-

zalves informed Burgman he belonged to the Machin-

ists (ibid.). Burgman, himself a member of Mill-

wrights Local 102 of the International Brotherhood

of Carpenters (R. 71 n. A; 335-337), told Gonzalves

"not to quote him" but that he would "have to belong

to the Millwrights Union" and directed him to Mr.

Cecil, business agent of the Carpenters Union (R. 31;

131-132).

Under the terms of the master agreement between

Associated General Contractors of America, Inc., and

the United Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners,



6

for 42 Northern California counties, dated April 30,

1951 (R. 232-258), pursuant to which the respondent

Company undertook to recognize the respondent

Union as the collective bargaining representative of

its employees,5
the appropriate local union in the area

in which the work is being carried on was given the

right to restrict the employer in the number of union

members he could bring in from other areas to work

on the project. Under the agreement, clearances for

outside union members would be granted only to the

extent of 25 percent of the employees in the

appropriate craft at the project.
6

Pursuant to Burgman's instructions, Gonzalves, on

the following day went to the Labor Temple in Rich-

mond and informed Cecil, the Carpenters' Union

business agent, that he desired employment at the

new Rheem plant (R. 31; 132-133). Gonzalves

told him that he had been working for Standard Oil

Company as a machinist and Cecil replied that "you

know the machinists and millwrights don't get along

too well" (R. 31; 133). Cecil also said that in order

to work at the Rheem plant Gonzalves "would have

5 A union-shop provision in the contract which was conditioned

on appropriate authorization by the Board under Section 9 (e) of

the Act was not effective during the period in question (R. 74 n.

4; 237-238).
6 Thus paragraph IV (D) of the contract provides as follows

(R. 238) :

"As to any employee who becomes a member of or applies for

membership in the Union, it is agreed that the appropriate Local

Union having jurisdiction will issue job clearance cards to any

individual member, in good standing in any local of the Union
designated by any individual employer, provided such employer

does not designate more than twenty-five percent (25%) of such

help required on any project."



to take a withdrawal card from the machinists" and

that "it will cost you $100 for initiation to go to work"

(R. 73, 31; 133, 139). In addition Cecil said "If I

did send you out there on the job and the fellows heard

out there that you was an ex-machinist, they are liable

to all walk off the job" (R. 73, 31; 133, 139). Cecil

concluded the conversation by saying "I have men,

anyway, that are out of work, and I would have to

place them first" (R. 31-32; 133, 139). Gonzalves did

not contact Burgman or Cecil again (R. 32; 145).

b. Rex Renner

On August 8, 1951, at about 11 a. m., Renner, a

member of Machinists for many years and experienced

in machinery erection, went to the Rheem plant and

applied for work with Foreman Burgman, whom he

had known since 1941 (R. 32; 151-153). Burgman

told Renner that he "would like" to have him on the

job but that Renner " would have to go down and get

clearance to go to work from Mr. Cecil" (R. 32; 152).

Renner said he doubted that Cecil would clear him

because he was a member of Machinists, but Burgman
said that if he could obtain a clearance from Cecil,

there was a position open for him (ibid.).

Renner, after unsuccessfully attempting to see Cecil

on August 9, succeeded in getting in touch with him

in his office at the Labor Temple in Richmond on

August 10, 1951 (R. 32; 154). There, Renner told

Cecil that Burgman wanted him on the job and had

instructed him to obtain a clearance from Cecil (R.

32-33 ; 154). Cecil replied that "he had no order from

Burgman for men, but if he had, he had three men
267108—53 2
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that were out of employment that would go on the job

before anybody else" (R. 33; 154).

On August 13, 1951, Renner returned to the Rheem
plant and informed Burgman of Cecil's statements

(R. 33; 155). Burgman replied "My hands are tied"

and that he could not do anything about it, and that

he had to take the men "they issue on a clearance"

(R. 33; 155-156).
c. Leroy Young

Young, another experienced construction and erec-

tion machinist (R. 33; 172, 174—175), also applied for

work at the Company's Rheem plant operations (R.

33-34; 169-170). On the morning of August 13, 1951,

Young visited Amos Doane, the Machinists' business

representative for construction (R. 33-34; 179), and

inquired about the Rheem project (R. 33-34; 176).

Doane, having previously been informed that members

of Machinists were experiencing difficulty in obtain-

ing employment with respondent Company on this

erection work, replied that he was about to visit the

plant himself (R. 34; 180). Doane and Young then

proceeded to the Rheem plant together (R. 34; 169-

170).

At the job site they met Foreman Burgman and

introduced themselves (R. 34; 169-170), Doane dis-

closing his representative status with Machinists (R.

34; 182). Young informed Burgman that he was

seeking work as a construction machinist and asked

Burgman if such work were available (R. 34; 170-

171). Burgman replied that he had no position open,

but that he expected more work during the following

week (ibid.). Young then asked if he could leave



his name and address so that Burgman could contact

him when work became available (R. 34; 171). Burg-

man agreed that Young could leave this information

with the timekeeper and stated that he would call

Young in to work when the machinery, which was

expected during the following week, arrived (ibid.).

Young then left his name and address with Time-

keeper Jacobus (R. 34; 171, 304-306).

In the meanwhile, Doane and Burgman discussed

the jurisdictional dispute between Machinists Union

and the Carpenters Union (R. 34; 182), and Burg-

man said that he "wished the two internationals could

get together and settle this thing" (R. 182). When
Young returned he asked Burgman, "If I got the job,

who would I have to get the clearance from" (R. 35;

171). Burgman replied that Young would "have to

see Mr. Cecil down at the Carpenter's Hall" (ibid.).

Young then asked Burgman why this was so, and

Burgman said "Well, we are bound by the AGC and

any man coming down here hired on the job must be

cleared through Millwright's" (R. 35; 171-172).

Young protested that Machinists had been perform-

ing this type of work before the Millwrights had, and

pointed out that he had been in erection work for

a number of years (R. 35; 172). Young and Doane

then departed (R. 35; 172). Young did not contact

respondent Union, but returned to the construction

site on August 17, 1951 (R. 35; 172). There, unable

to locate Burgman, he renewed his request for work

with Timekeeper Jacobus (R. 35; 172). Jacobus re-

plied that there were no openings, but that he had
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Young's address and would call him when a job was

open (ibid.). Neither Burgman nor the Company

have since contacted Young (R. 35; 173).

d. Philip Glen

On September 4, 1951, Glen, another member of

Machinists (R. 36; 198), who also knew Foreman

Burgman from work in the shipyards in 1941 (R.

198), applied for work at the Rheem project (R. 36-

37; 198). He approached Burgman in an area of

the building where the presses were being erected and

asked if Burgman had a job for him (R. 37; 198).

Burgman immediately asked Glen if he was a "Ma-
chinist" (R. 37; 199). Glen replied that he was

(ibid.). Burgman said "all my men are millwrights"

(R. 37; 200) and that he had nothing open at the

moment but that if Glen left his name, address and

telephone number he would call him when something

developed (R. 37; 199-200). Glen placed this infor-

mation in a pocket notebook carried by Burgman and

left shortly thereafter (R. 37; 199).

On about September 6, 1951, Glen returned to the

Rheem plant and spoke to Burgman (R. 37; 199).

Burgman informed him that things were progressing

slowly and that he had laid off a man on the previous

day (R. 37; 199). Burgman then asked Glen if he

was interested in working for Rheem Manufacturing

Company (ibid.), and Glen said he would welcome

any work (R. 37; 199). Burgman introduced Glen

to a Rheem foreman who sent Glen to the Rheem

personnel office, where he applied for work as a main-

tenance machinist, but without success (R. 37; 199).
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And, as in the cases of Gonzalves, Renner, and Young,

the respondent Company has not offered Glen em-

ployment (R. 37).

2. At the same time respondent Company refuses the applications of the

Machinists it adds several Millwrights to its staff

About the same time Gonzalves and Renner applied

for employment Foreman Burgman sought the aid

of respondent Cecil in locating three AFL Millwrights

whom he desired to hire (R. 44; 226-229, 337-339).

Cecil informed him that they were not members of

his local but that he would attempt to locate them

through the local in the neighboring town of Antioch

(R. 44-45; 227). Cecil supplied this information on

a visit with Burgman (R. 45; 340). Employees Allen

and Rath were two of the three men whom Burgman
requested Cecil to locate (R. 44-45; 322). Both were

hired on August 13, 1951 (R. 296, 343), five days after

Gonzalves and Renner had unsuccessfully sought em-

ployment with respondent Company and the same day

that Young applied (supra, p. 8) . According to the tes-

timony of Wayne Dalzell, vice president of the Com-

pany, he believed that all of the men hired during this

period were AFL men (R. 47; 285). Allen became

union steward on the project (R. 44; 335-336, 352) and

Burgman sought his aid in recruiting men for the

job. Allen suggested two men, Belcher and Colbuth,

and Burgman hired both of them (R. 43; 328, 331-

332). In addition to these men, the Company, in

October and November 1951, hired six others for

erection work (R. 43-44; 297-298, 300-301, 343-344).

None of the men hired for machinery installation

work was a member of the Machinists, as Vice Presi-
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dent Dalzell admitted (R. 47; 283). In view of the

extensive hiring of AFL men during this period to

do work for which Gonzalves, Renner, Young, and

Glen were qualified (the Company does not contend

that these men were not qualified to perform the work

in question), the Board rejected the respondents' con-

tention that a lack of available work justified the Com-
pany's refusal to hire the four Machinists (R. 72 n. 3).

II. The Board's conclusions

Upon the foregoing evidence the Board concluded

that an understanding or arrangement existed between

the Company and the Carpenters Union to the effect

that no employee would be hired without a clearance

from the Carpenters Union (R. 73-74), and that

Gonzalves, Rentier, Young, and Glen were denied em-

ployment as a direct result of this unlawful clearance

arrangement (R. 74-75) because clearance by the Car-

penters Union was predicated upon membership

in it (R. 73). Such denial of employment en-

couraging membership in the Carpenters Union

and discouraging membership in the Machinists vio-

lated Section 8 (a) (1) and (3) of the Act (R. 75).

In so finding the Board rejected the Company's con-

tention that the Company hired mainly former em-

ployees who had demonstrated their ability as ex-

perienced riggers without regard to their union affili-

ation (R. 42-48). The Board further concluded that

the Carpenters Union and respondent Cecil, by virtue

of their being parties to the unlawful understanding,

caused the Company to discriminate against em-

ployees in violation of Section 8 (b) (2) and (1)

(A) of the Act (R. 75).
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III. The Board's order

The Board's order requires that the Company-

cease and desist from refusing to hire or otherwise

discriminating against any qualified person for failure

to belong to the Carpenters Union or any other labor

organization, except to the extent permitted by Sec-

tion 8 (a) (3) of the Act, and that the Carpenters

Union and Cecil cease and desist from causing or at-

tempting to cause such discrimination. Affirmatively,

the Board's order requires that the Company offer

Gonzalves, Renner, Young, and Glen immediate em-

ployment; that the respondents jointly and severally

make whole Gonzalves, Renner, Young, and Glen for

any loss of pay they may have suffered by reason

of the discrimination against them; and that the re-

spondents post appropriate notices (R. 77-81).

ARGUMENT

I. The Board properly asserted jurisdiction over the unfair

labor practices here involved

The undisputed evidence establishes that the Com-

pany installed at the Rheem plant production ma-

chinery and equipment shipped from various states

outside of California valued at approximately

$3,831,000 (supra, p. 3). For its services in install-

ing this machinery the Company received in excess

of $50,000 (supra, p. 4). It is also undisputed that

from the time the plant commenced operating in No-

vember 1951 through the month of April 1952, shell

components manufactured at the Rheem plant valued

at more than $1,000,000 were shipped to various out-

of-state destinations (supra, p. 4). Clearly, a work
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stoppage in the Company's installation of the produc-

tion machinery at Rheem would not only tend to

impede the out-of-state shipments of this machinery

to the Rheem plant but it would also necessarily delay

and impede the interstate shipment of the completed

ordnance material from the plant. Thus the estab-

lished test of the Act's coverage is fully satisfied and

the Board properly asserted jurisdiction over the un-

fair labor practices here involved. N. L. R. B. v.

Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U. S. 1, 41-42;

N. L. R. B. v. Denver Bldg. & Construction Trades

Council, 341 U. S. 675, 683-685 ; N. L. R. B. v. Fain-

blatt, 306 U. S. 601, 604, 607 ; N. L. R. B. v. Cantrall

Co., 201 P. 2d 853, 855 (C. A. 9), certiorari denied,

345 U. S. 996; N. L. R. B. v. Fry Roofing Co., 193

F. 2d 324, 327 (C. A. 9) ; Katz v. N. L. R. B., 196 F.

2d 411, 412-413 (O. A. 9) ; N L. R. B. v. Reed, 32

LRRM 2308, 2309-2311 (C. A. 9), decided June 22
r

1953.
7

7 The fact that the Company installs the machinery under sub-

contract with Christensen and Lyons, the general contractor for

Rheem, rather than under contract directly with Rheem, is wholly

immaterial for the purposes of determining the Board's jurisdic-

tion. The "burdening or obstructing" effect upon interstate com-

merce as a result of a stoppage of the Company's operations due

to labor strife is the same whether the work is performed under

contract directly with Rheem or under subcontract with Christen-

sen and Lyons. See Fainblatt, Cantrall, Fry and Reed cases, supra.
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II. Substantial evidence on the record considered as a whole

supports the Board's finding that the Company discrimi-

nated against Employees Gonzalves, Renner, Young, and

Glen in violation of Section 8 (a) (3) and (1) of the Act, and

that Carpenters Union, and Cecil, in violation of Sections 8

(b) (2) and 8 (b) (1) (A) caused the Company to so

discriminate

A. The Company violated Sections 8 (a) (3) and (1) of the Act

Section 8 (a) (3) of the Act (infra, p. 24) makes it

an unfair labor practice for an employer "by discrimi-

nation in regard to hire * * * to encourage or dis-

courage membership in any labor organization * * *"

An employer clearly violates Section 8 (a) (3) if

membership in a labor organization is required by

the employer as a prerequisite for employment.

N. L. B. B. v. Swinerton & Walberg, 202 F. 2d 511,

514 (C. A. 9) ; N. L. B. B. v. Cantrall Co., 201 F. 2d

853, 855-856 (C. A. 9), certiorari denied 345 U. S. 996;

N. L. B. B. v. Fry Boofing Co., 193 F. 2d 324 (C. A.

9). In the instant case the Board found the Company

and the Carpenters Union had an understanding or

arrangement that employment would be conditioned

on a clearance from the Carpenters Union and that

in consequence of this undertaking #our applicants

were denied employment since they did not meet the

condition on which clearance depended, namely, with-

drawal from the Machinists and acquisition of mem-
bership in the Carpenters. The evidence, as we show

below, fully supports this finding.

According to the credited testimony of the four

members of Machinists Union who applied at the

Company's Rheem operations, Foreman Burgman
openly specified that employment was conditioned on
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clearance by the Carpenters Union. In the case of

Gonzalves, the first applicant, Burgman initially

promised employment " around the first of the week,"

but after learning that Gonzalves was a member of

the Machinists, Burgman said "not to quote him" but

that he would "have to belong to the Millwrights

Union" and directed Gonzalves to Cecil, the Carpen-

ters Union business agent (supra, p. 5). Renner,

the next applicant, was told by Burgman that he

"would have to go down and get a clearance to work

from Mr. Cecil" (supra, p. 7). When Renner ex-

pressed doubt that Cecil would clear him, a member

of Machinists, Burgman said there was a position

open if he could get the clearance (supra, p. 7).

After unsuccessfully attempting to get the clearance

Renner returned to Burgman and told him of Cecil's

refusal (supra, p. 8). Burgman replied, "My hands

are tied" and that he had to take the men "they issue

* * * on a clearance" (supra, p. 8). Young was the

next applicant. When Young asked why Burgman

had said that he (Young) would "have to see Mr.

Cecil down at Carpenters Hall," Burgman replied,

"Well, we are bound by the AGC and any man com-

ing down here hired on the job must be cleared

through the Millwrights" (supra, pp. 8-9). Finally,

when Glen applied for work, Burgman immediately

asked if he was a "Machinist" and on Glen's answer

that he was, Burgman said "All my men are mill-

wrights" (supra, p. 10).

Business Agent Cecil's conduct at the time Gon-

zalves and Renner went to the office of the Carpenters

Union to obtain clearance confirms the existence of
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the clearance arrangement found by the Board. As

we have seen (supra, pp. 6-7), when Gonzalves sought

clearance, Cecil, after remarking, "You know the

machinists and millwrights don't get along too well,"

informed Gonzalves that it would cost him $100 to

join the Carpenters Union and that he would have to

withdraw from the Machinists first. Cecil then said

that if he sent an "ex-machinist" to the job "they are

liable to all walk off the job" and that, in any event,

he had to "place" the unemployed members of the

Carpenters Union first (supra, p. 7). When Renner

applied for clearance he told Cecil that Burgman
wanted him on the job and that Burgman had in-

structed him to obtain a clearance from Cecil (supra,

p. 7). Cecil said he had no orders from Burgman
for men but that even if he did "he had three men
* * * that would go on the job before anybody else"

(supra, pp. 7-8). Thus, although fully apprised that

the Company was taking the position that clearance

from the Carpenters Union was necessary to obtain

employment with it, as the Trial Examiner and the

Board pointed out (R. 40, 73), Cecil did nothing

to "disavow this policy of clearance." On the con-

trary, Cecil's entire conduct on both occasions on

which clearance was sought is fully consistent with

the existence of the clearance arrangement found by

the Board.

Under all the circumstances, it is submitted that

the Board was justified in finding that the Company
and the Carpenters Union had an understanding or

arrangement, regarding clearance. To recapitulate,

Foreman Burgman himself was a member of another
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local of the international with which the Carpenters

Union is affiliated. He explicitly stated to Gonzalves

and Renner that clearance from the Carpenters

Union was necessary in order to go to work for the

Company. Cecil's conduct on the occasions on which

clearance was sought by members of Machinists is

fully consistent with the existence of a clearance ar-

rangement. And finally, under all the circumstances

of the case, the fact that the Company employed only

members of the Carpenters Union at the time of the

events in question (supra, pp. 11-12) and the further

fact that at no time prior to the hearing were any

members of the Machinists hired by the Company

at the Rheem plant for machinery erection work

(ibid.) afford further confirmation of the Board's

conclusion that there was some sort of an arrangement

between the Company and the Carpenters Union to

the effect that no employee would be hired without

clearance from that Union, which in turn, was con-

ditioned on membership in it.
8

The Board very properly rejected the Company's

contention that it hired the most qualified help avail-

able without regard to their union affiliation, and that

the men chosen were mainly those who had worked

for the Company before with whose work Burgman

was familiar. In the first place, the statements made

8 While the Board's conclusion regarding the existence of a

clearance arrangement is based on disputed testimony, the denials

of Foreman Burgman and Business Agent Cecil that such an ar-

rangement existed (R. 265, 333-334) simply created issues of

credibility which were for the Trial Examiner to resolve, as this

Court pointed out in N. L. R. B. v. Swinerton <& Walberg, 202 F.

2d 511, 514. See also N. L. R. B. v. San Diego Gas and Electric

Co., 32 L. R. R. M. 2358, 2361 (C. A. 9), decided June 25, 1953.
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by Burgman to the four machinists when they applied

to him for employment clearly indicate not only that

these four men were acceptable to the Company as

employees, without regard to the fact that they had

not worked for the Company before, but also that the

only barrier to their employment as jobs became avail-

able was their lack of clearance from the Carpenters

Union.

Secondly, the record refutes the claim that the Com-

pany relied mainly on former employees with whose

work Burgman was familiar. Of the 14 men hired

from the beginning of the Rheem project up to Jan-

uary 1, 1952, seven had never worked for the Com-

pany before.
9 Of these seven, Burgman had no per-

sonal knowledge of the work of four, Spencer, Powert,

Colbuth and Drury (R. 43-44; 329, 315, 331) ;

10
as to

these, Burgman relied solely on the recommendation

of others in determining their qualifications for the

work (R. 43-45; 329-331). While Belcher had

worked with Burgman six years earlier, this was not

the basis on which he was hired by the Company
(R. 43). As we have shown, Burgman sought the

assistance of Union Steward Allen in recruiting men
for the job, and Belcher was one of two hired upon

the recommendation of Allen (R. 43; 328). Thus, it

was just a coincidence that Belcher happened to have

worked on a job with Burgman six years earlier.

9 These were Greathouse, Belcher, Spencer, Powert, Ramsey,

Colbuth, and Drury (R, 43; 44; 295-300, 315, 290).
10 Greathouse, Ramsey, and Belcher had worked with Burg-

man when he worked for other employers (R. 43; 326-329,

330-331)

.
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Under all the circumstances, the Board was fully

warranted in rejecting the Company's claim that in

building up its staff it relied mainly on men who had

previously worked for the Company whose capabili-

ties were well known to Burgman.

On the facts of this case the Company's violation

of Section 8 (a) (3) and (1) of the Act is clear.

The Company, as we have shown, was a party to an

understanding or arrangement with the Carpenters

Union whereby the Company agreed that no employee

would be hired without clearance from the Union.

Thereafter, the Company refused to hire four qualified

applicants solely because they were members of the

Machinists and lacked clearance from the Carpenters

Union—clearance which was available solely on con-

dition they withdraw from the Machinists and join

the Carpenters Union. These facts clearly justified

the Board in finding that "Gronzalves, Renner, Young,

and Glen were denied employment as a direct result

of the respondent Company's unlawful arrangement

for clearances by the respondent Union, thus encour-

aging membership in the respondent Union and dis-

couraging membership in the IAM * * * in violation

of Section 8 (a) (1) and (3) of the Act" (R. 74-75).

N. L. R. B. v. Swinerton & Walberg, 202 F. 2d 511,

515-516 (C. A. 9) ; N. L. R. B. v. Cantrall Co., 201 F.

2d 853, 856 (C. A. 9), certiorari denied, 345 U. S. 996;

N. L. R. B. v. Fry Roofing Co., 193 F. 2d 324, 324-326

(CA.9).

The fact that there may not have been vacancies

immediately available for all four of these men on the

days on which they applied is wholly immaterial in

view of the fact that the Company was following an
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illegal discriminatory hiring practice. In fact, there

was a job immediately available for Renner and Fore-

man Burgman had Gonzalves in mind for a job which

was to open up on the following Monday (supra,

pp. 5, 11). In any event, as this Court held in

N. L. B. B. v. Swinerton & Walberg, 202 F. 2d 511,

515 where "an illegal requirement has been imposed,

and it is apparent from such discriminatory hiring

policy that further application for employment would

be futile, the job applicants need not go through the

useless procedure of reapplying for employment at

the later time when jobs are actually available in

order to establish that they were victims of the dis-

criminatory hiring policy." To the same effect are

N. L. B. B. v. Arthur G. McKee and Co., 196 F. 2d

636 (C. A. 5), enforcing, 94 K L. R. B. 399; and

N. L. B. B. v. Daniel Hamm Drayage Co., 185 F. 2d

1020 (C. A. 5), enforcing, 84 K L. R. B. 458.

B. The Carpenters Union violated Section 8 (b) (2) and (1) (a) of the Act

Section 8 (b) (2) of the Act (infra, p. 25) makes it

an unfair labor practice for a union "to cause or

attempt to cause an employer to discriminate against

an employee in violation of subsection (a) (3) * * *"

As this Court held in N. L. B. B. v. Local 743,

United Brotherhood of Carpenters, 202 F. 2d 516, 518,

an "agreement that only those employees who belong

to a certain union, or who are referred by that union,

which is in force and effect and which is of sufficient

potency to cause a company to refuse to hire outside

the agreement * * * comes within the terms of § 8

(b) (2) and § 8 (b) (1) (A) * * * where, in refer-
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ring for work, the union discriminates in favor of its

own members." Since, as we have shown (supra,

pp. 15-21), the evidence warranted the Board in find-

ing that the Company and the Carpenters Union had

an understanding to the effect that no employees would

be hired without clearance from the Carpenters Union,

and since the record unequivocally shows that the

Union in granting clearance insisted upon union mem-

bership as an indispensable prerequisite, respondent

Carpenters Union's conduct, as in the Local 743 case

cited above, comes fully within the terms of Sections

8 (b) (2) and 8 (b) (1) (A) of the Act.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the Board's find-

ings are supported by substantial evidence on the

record considered as a whole, that its order is valid

and proper, and that a decree should issue enforcing

the order in full as prayed in the Board's petition.

George J. Bott,

General Counsel,

David P. Findling,

Associate General Counsel,

A. Norman Somers,

Assistant General Counsel,

Owsley Vose,

John Lawless,

Attorneys,

National Labor Relations Board.

September 1953.



APPENDIX

The relevant provisions of the National Labor Rela-

tions Act, as amended (61 Stat. 136, 29 U. S. C,
Supp. V, Sees. 151, et seq.), are as follows:

Definitions

Sec. 2. When used in this Act

—

*****
(7) The term "affecting commerce" means

in commerce, or burdening or obstructing com-
merce or the free flow of commerce, or having
led or tending to lead to a labor dispute bur-
dening or obstructing commerce or the free flow
of commerce.*****

Rights of Employees

Sec. 7. Employees shall have the right to

self-organization, to form, join, or assist labor
organizations, to bargain collectively through
representatives of their own choosing, and to

engage in other concerted activities for the pur-
pose of collective bargaining or other mutual
aid or protection, and shall also have the right

to refrain from any or all of such activities

except to the extent that such right may be
affected by an agreement requiring membership
in a labor organization as a condition of em-
ployment as authorized in section 8 (a) (3).

Unfair Labor Practices

Sec. 8. (a) It shall be an unfair labor prac-
tice for an employer

—

(23)
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(1) to interfere with, restrain, or coerce em-
ployees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed
in section 7; * * ******

(3) by discrimination in regard to hire or
tenure of employment or any term or condition

of employment to encourage or discourage mem-
bership in any labor organization: Provided,
That nothing in this Act, or in any other statute

of the United States, shall preclude an employer
from making an agreement with a labor organ-
ization (not established, maintained, or assisted

by any action defined in section 8 (a) of this

Act as an unfair labor practice) to require as a
condition of employment membership therein
on or after the thirtieth day following the begin-
ning of such employment or the effective date
of such agreement, whichever is the later, (i) if

such labor organization is the representative of

the employees as provided in section 9 (a), in

the appropriate collective-bargaining unit cov-

ered by such agreement when made; [and (ii)

if, following the most recent election held as

provided in section 9 (e) the Board shall have
certified that at least a majority of the em-
ployees eligible to vote in such election have
voted to authorize such labor organization to

make such an agreement:] 1 Provided further,

1 On October 22, 1951, Section 8 (a) (3) of the Act was amended

by striking out the bracketed portion of the first sentence and

inserting in lieu thereof the following:

"and has at the time the agreement was made or within the pre-

ceding 12 months received from the Board a notice of compliance

with section 9 (f), (g), and (h) and (ii) unless following an

election held as provided in section 9 (e) within 1 year preceding

the effective date of such agreement, the Board shall have certified

that at least a majority of the employees eligible to vote in such

election have voted to rescind the authority of such labor organi-

zation to make such an agreement:" (Public Law 189, par. (b),

82d Cong., 1st sess ; 65 Stat. 601.)
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That no employer shall justify any discrimina-

tion against an employee for nonmembership in

a labor organization (A) if he has reasonable

grounds for believing that such membership was
not available to the employee on the same terms
and conditions generally applicable to other

members, or (B) if he has reasonable grounds
for believing that membership was denied or

terminated for reasons other than the failure of

the employee to tender the periodic dues and
the initiation fees uniformly required as a con-

dition of acquiring or retaining membership;*****
(b) It shall be an unfair labor practice for a

labor organization or its agents

—

(1) to restrain or coerce (A) employees in

the exercise of the rights guaranteed in section

7: Provided, That this paragraph shall not im-
pair the right of a labor organization to pre-

scribe its own rules with respect to the acquisi-

tion or retention of membership therein; * * *

(2) to cause or attempt to cause an employer
to discriminate against an employee in violation

of subsection (a) (3) or to discriminate against

an employee with respect to whom membership
in such organization has been denied or termi-

nated on some ground other than his failure to

tender the periodic dues and the initiation fees

uniformly required as a condition of acquiring

or retaining membership;*****
Prevention of Unfair Labor Practices

Sec. 10. (a) The Board is empowered, as

hereinafter provided, to prevent any person
from engaging in any unfair labor practice

(listed in section 8) affecting commerce. This
power shall not be affected by any other means
of adjustment or prevention that has been or
may be established by agreement, law, or other-

wise: * * *
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(c) * * * If upon the preponderance of the
testimony taken the Board shall be of the opin-
ion that any person named in the complaint
has engaged in or is engaging in any such un-
fair labor practice, then the Board shall state

its findings of fact and shall issue and cause to

be served on such person an order requiring
such person to cease and desist from such un-
fair labor practice, and to take such affirmative

action including reinstatement of employees
with or without back pay, as will effectuate the
policies of this Act: * * *

(e) The Board shall have power to petition

any circuit court of appeals of the United
States (including the United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia), or if all

the circuit courts of appeals to which applica-

tion may be made are in vacation, any district

court of the United States (including the Dis-
trict Court of the United States for the District

of Columbia), within any circuit or district, re-

spectively, wherein the unfair labor practice in

question occurred or wherein such person re-

sides or transacts business, for the enforcement
of such order and for appropriate temporary
relief or restraining order, and shall certify and
file in the court a transcript of the entire record
in the proceedings, including the pleadings and
testimony upon which such order was entered

and the findings and order of the Board. Upon
such filing, the court shall cause notice thereof
to be served upon such person, and thereupon
shall have jurisdiction of the proceeding and
of the question determined therein, and shall

have power to grant such temporary relief or
restraining order as it deems just and proper,

and to make and enter upon the pleadings, testi-

mony, and proceedings set forth in such tran-

script a decree enforcing, modifying, and
enforcing as so modified, or setting aside in

whole or in part the order of the Board. No
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objection that has not been urged before the

Board, its member, agent, or agency, shall be
considered by the court, unless the failure or
neglect to urge such objection shall be excused
because of extraordinary circumstances. The
findings of the Board with respect to questions

of fact if supported by substantial evidence on
the record considered as a whole shall be con-

clusive. * * *
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